## Why Membership?

Key Biblical and Theological Convictions of Village



## Table of Contents

Why should I join a church?	2
Reason #1: Personal Safety & Accountability	3
Reason #2: Simple Obedience	4
Reason #3: Granting governing authority of the church	6
Reason #4: Christian Purpose	6
Reason #5: Care	8
Reason #6: Expose false gospels	9
Reason #7: Edify the church	9
Reason #8: Evangelize the world	9
Reason #9: Glorify God	9
Reason #10: A Cultural Reason - It is an Antidote to our Society	9
Reason #11: A Practical Reason - It Defines Who Can Be Counted On	10
Reason #12: A Personal Reason - It Produces Spiritual Growth	10
Conclusion	10
Process for Becoming a Member	11
Qualifications for Membership	11
Membership Commitments	11
Process for Membership	11
Maintenance of Membership	12
Purpose in Our Yearly Membership Affirmation	13

#### Acknowledgements:

This distinctive was drawn from writings by VBC elders, Jiim Eliff (Christ Fellowship Elders), Mark Dever and John Piper and christianfamilychapel.com.

# Why should I join a church?

While all believers are part of the universal church, the New Testament also stresses the importance of all believers being a part of a local church. A local church is comprised of a definable group of people who, on the basis of their commitment to the Lord, have identified themselves with and committed themselves to one another. While membership in a local church does not guarantee one's salvation, it is imperative for all believers to be connected to a body of believers for the sake of encouragement, edification and equipping.

While church membership gives believers certain rights within a local congregation, its purpose is far more biblical. In the God-ordained environment of a local church, members function as one body, building up each other in love according to the rule of Scripture. Throughout Scripture, it is clear that God intended for His people to enter into covenants with Him and with one another. Membership at Village Bible Church is a covenant relationship among fellow believers, as well as with their leaders under Christ. In order to implement the principles of accountability and commitment to the local body of Christ as defined in the New Testament and practiced in the early church, Village Bible Church recognizes the need for formal membership (Acts 11:26; Romans 16:1; 1 Corinthians 1:2; 2 Corinthians 8:1; Philippians 1:1).

The word "membership" is not used anywhere in the Bible. No matter how hard you look, you will never find a verse or passage in the New Testament that directly commands believers to maintain membership roles or establish membership procedures. Such direct commands are simply never given. And there are no clear examples in the New Testament of written membership lists being kept.

With this in mind, one cannot help but wonder if the whole idea of church membership isn't an unnecessary addition to Scripture—a legalistic tradition added to the simplicity of the Christian life. If church membership is seen as such an addition, it is no wonder that it has become an unpopular idea.

Then, when one introduces into this discussion the individualistic philosophies of Western (particularly American) thought, church membership becomes even more unpopular. In a culture where *self*-reliance, *self*-worth, *self*-esteem, and *self*-fulfillment are considered to be the most desirable personal characteristics, membership in a local church, where mutual submission, accountability, and inter-dependence are the way of life, seems foreign and even counter-productive.

By the very fact that we have written this article, you know that we do value the idea of church membership. Hopefully, you have also become aware of how highly we value the Bible, not merely as the only message for the salvation of mankind and the divine standard for personal holiness, but also as the manual of instruction for the conduct of the church. With this in mind, we hope to answer your question, *"Why should I join a church?"* by giving you the following 12 biblical reasons for doing so.

#### Reason #1: Personal Safety & Accountability

The worst thing that can happen to a Christian is not persecution, physical injury, or death. In many respects, these are the best things that can happen to us. Jesus said that we are blessed when we are "persecuted for righteousness' sake" (Matthew 5:10). Paul decided to "take pleasure in infirmities . . . for Christ's sake . . . For when I am weak, then I am strong" (2 Corinthians 12:10). Jesus said to His followers, "My friends, do not be afraid of those who kill the body, and after that have no more that they can do" (Luke 12:4). This makes perfect sense, because for the believer, "to be absent from the body" is "to be present with the Lord." None of these earthly threats should hold any sway over us whatsoever.

But there is one thing that should make us tremble, and that is the prospect of being overtaken by sin. Sin is what Christ suffered for on the cross (2 Corinthians 5:21). Sin grieves the Holy Spirit of God (Ephesians 4:30). Sin in the life of a true believer invites the discipline of the Father (Hebrews 12:5-8). And sin, if it characterizes the life of a professing Christian, may indicate that the profession of faith is false (Titus 1:16; 1 John 2:3-4). Even as those whose sins have been forgiven, we must never forget that sin is the one thing that sends people to eternal torment in hell.

As Christians, we are involved in a battle. Our arch-enemy is Satan who "walks about like a roaring lion, seeking whom he may devour" (1 Peter 5:8). The way in which he devours unwary people is by tempting them to sin—by convincing them that sin is a more rewarding master than Christ. He therefore disguises himself and his agents, and he makes the pleasures of sin appear very appealing to us. And Satan does not just attack us from the front where we can clearly see him coming; he attacks from every side.

How much better it would be, then, to have spiritual eyes in the back of our heads. If we did, we could see *"the wiles of the devil"* much more clearly. Even alone, we could guard effectively against his schemes. But we don't have such panoramic spiritual vision, do we? In fact, it often seems that we don't even have very good peripheral vision. We need help! And that is precisely the purpose of the church—the fellow Christians to whom we unite ourselves in a relationship of accountability.

That is why we are told to "exhort one another daily . . . lest any of you be hardened through the deceitfulness of sin" (Hebrews 3:13). That is why Paul said to the church at Rome that they, being "full of all goodness, filled with all knowledge," were to "admonish one another" (Romans 15:14). And that is why, in the familiar passage in Hebrews chapter 10, we are told to "consider one another in order to stir up love and good works." These passages all speak of the fellowship of the church as a preventative measure—a means of restraining one another from sin.

Never in the New Testament are Christians told to "tough it out" on their own. On the contrary, for the person who thinks he can do that, in 1 Corinthians chapter 10, Paul gives a number of Old Testament examples of failure—of sin that led to destruction. Then, in verses 11-12, he says that "all these things happened to them as examples, and they were written for our admonition . . . . Therefore let him who thinks he stands take heed lest he fall."

We are not called to live the Christian life apart from the protection of the church. The fellowship of a group of committed believers is vital to our spiritual health and to our endurance in the faith. The church, in the midst of this *"crooked and perverse generation,"* is just as important for our survival as the ark was to Noah and his family; they simply would not have survived without it.

This need for the protection of committed brothers and sisters is seen most clearly in the fact that even with it, many Christians fall into sin. In Galatians 6:1, Paul writes, "Brethren, if a man is overtaken in any trespass, you who are spiritual restore such a one in a spirit of gentleness, considering yourself lest you also be tempted."

What Paul is describing here is a rescue mission. A soldier is down behind enemy lines having been wounded by enemy gunfire, and those who are able are to carefully, yet courageously rescue him. Paul is not describing a callous and prideful rebuke; he doesn't want us to ridicule the soldier for getting himself shot. In another place he writes, *"Yet do not count him as an enemy, but admonish him as a brother."* (2 Thessalonians 3:15). What he tells us to do is gently, cautiously pull this wounded soldier back to safety, watching that we don't get picked-off by the same enemy sniper who shot our brother. In this context, the lone soldier, apart from the protection of his platoon, has no chance of survival.

Likewise, when a person who maintains that his Christianity is "a private thing" is overcome by sin, he has no one to rescue him through such accountability. He may simply withdraw from the church he has attended, but never joined. If he has not committed himself to a particular body of believers, and they to him, he may weaken and die with no one ever realizing that he was even wounded.

*Why should you join a church*? Because your spiritual survival depends on it. In those churches where the fellowship always seems positive and upbeat, but no membership procedure is established, there may be a willingness to confront sin in a biblical manner, but there is no authority to take Christian accountability to its final degree when necessary. That kind of authority—the ability to properly and consistently exercise such loving accountability—is the subject of the next section.

#### Reason #2: Simple Obedience

We did say that membership is never directly commanded in the New Testament. But while it is never *directly* commanded, it is most definitely implied and also taught by example. This is most clearly seen in the commands given by Christ and the Apostle Paul regarding the removal of an unrepentant member from the church. In Matthew 18, verses 15-17, Jesus gives the church step-by-step instructions for dealing with a *"brother"* (a professing Christian) who falls into sin. If that "brother" persists in his sinful behavior even after being confronted privately, the matter is to be told "to the church." Unless there is some kind of established dividing line—some way of knowing who is part of the church and who is not—we have no way of properly obeying Christ's command.

Further, if the brother still does not repent even after the matter is told to the church, he is to be considered "*a heathen and a tax collector*" (in other words, a non-Christian). Christ's clear meaning is that such a person is to be cast out of the fellowship of believers (the term "excommunication" is commonly used to describe this church action).

Paul uses even stronger language to describe the removal of an unrepentant "brother" from the church. In 1 Corinthians chapter 5, regarding a professing Christian who was leading a grossly immoral life, he tells that church to "deliver such a one to Satan . . ." (v. 5). He goes on to say that they were "not to keep company with anyone named a brother, who is sexually immoral . . . not even to eat with such a person" (v. 11). Then, in verse 12, Paul makes a very interesting distinction. He writes, "For what have I to do with judging those also who are outside? Do you not judge those who are inside?" What did Paul mean by distinguishing between those who were "outside" and those who were "inside It seems clear that he was referring to some sort of separation between groups. Those who were "inside" must have been a recognized group—a list (even if it was not written down) of the people who comprised that local church. This group must have been bound together by more than just an informal relationship—not just a bond among people who said they were Christians (remember that the man who was cast out was "named a brother").

In other words, there must have been some system by which they *affirmed* one another as Christians—as members of that church. In what other way could these people have obediently followed Paul's instructions in verse 13 when he said, *"Therefore 'put away from yourselves the evil person?"*? If a person were never affirmed or accepted as a member of that particular group, there would be no way to obey the command to remove him from that group.

In what other way could a Christian obey the command given in Hebrews 13:17, *"Obey those who rule over you, and be submissive . . . "*? How would a particular Christian know whom to obey, if not by committing himself to the leadership and care of a particular elder or group of elders? We certainly would not expect a Christian to follow the instructions or submit to the leadership of any and every person in his city, or state, or nation, who is considered a pastor. Think of the implications of that; think of the utter confusion that would certainly follow.

How else could a particular elder properly obey Paul's command in Acts chapter 20 when he passionately implored those in Ephesus to "shepherd the church of God which He purchased with His own blood"? How would those Ephesian elders have known who in particular was under their care as a shepherd if not for some system of membership? For a moment, put yourself in the position of an elder. How else could you know which people comprise the group that Peter referred to as "those entrusted to you" (1 Peter 5:3)? What other way could you have of knowing those for whom you will be held accountable (cf. Hebrews 13:17)?

In addition to the commands to discipline and shepherd, believers are commanded to diligently care for one another—to "do good to all, especially to those who are of the household of faith" (Galatians 6:10). "Love one another," Jesus says, "as I have loved you," giving a command for Christians to love other Christians (John 13:34). The writer of Hebrews exhorts Christians to "consider one another in order to stir up love and good works" (Hebrews 10:24). How do we know who these one anothers are? How do we know who belongs to this "household of faith" if not for some system of membership?

The true intent of these commands is to demonstrate to the world that the church, in a given locality, is an intimately unified family—sons and daughters of God who rejoice together, struggle together, learn together, and grow together. These commands for commitment to *"one another,"* to the well-being of *"the household of faith,"* lose much of their emphasis when the church is nothing more than a loosely knit group of professing believers (and even admitted unbelievers in many cases).

*Why should you join a church?* Because it is an act of obedience to the commands of Christ and His New Testament Apostles. Where people come and go as they please, never demonstrating any kind of dedication or true commitment to a particular body of brothers and sisters in Christ, the church cannot be in subjection to Christ its Head; Christians cannot fulfill their purpose.

#### Reason #3: Granting governing authority of the church

In Matthew 18:15-17 "the church" (ekklēsia) is described as the final court of appeal for believers. Without the voluntary submitting to church leadership that takes place in church membership, it is impossible to define the group that will take up this sensitive and weighty matter of exhorting the unrepentant person and finally rendering a judgment about his standing in the community. In order for this leadership and this submission to function there must be a membership to define who has made the commitment to be led and who has been chosen as leaders some kind of expressed willingness or covenant or agreement or commitment must precede submission.

#### Reason #4: Christian Purpose

Paul wrote to the church at Philippi, instructing them to "work out your own salvation with fear and trembling . . ." (Philippians 2:12). In using the term "work out," Paul was not telling those Christians to come up with their own plan for salvation (work out your own arrangement). He was also not telling them to work off a debt (like paying off a credit card) after it seemed that they had gotten something for free. Paul's meaning here comes from a single Greek word that is translated by the two English words, "work out." It means, in simple terms, to fulfill your purpose—to accomplish that which you were meant to accomplish. Understanding, then, that every Christian was created by God for a purpose, we must ask ourselves what that purpose is.

Initially it seems that Christians have several purposes. We are meant to live a righteous and holy life so that God will be glorified (Matthew 5:16; Ephesians 2:10;

Titus 3:1, 8, 14). We are commanded to do the work of evangelism (Matthew 9:36-38; 28:18-20; Mark 16:15). We are supposed to seek spiritual growth (2 Peter 3:11-18; Hebrews 5:12-14). We must be teachers and guardians of the truth (1 Timothy 3:15; 1 Peter 3:15; 1 Timothy 6:20). And we are told to care for those in need (Matthew 25:31-46; Galatians 2:10; 6:10; James 1:27).

These various Christian behaviors and qualities are undeniably commanded in the Bible. But is the core of the Christian purpose really so varied? Should we merely seek balance as we try to be and to do all of these things? Or can our purpose be reduced to a more central idea?

We believe that the purpose for the Christian and for the church is better understood as a singular purpose—one that promotes balance and stimulates obedience to all these other commands. That singular purpose is love.

Jesus said that the greatest commandment is love—to love God with all your heart, soul, mind, and strength, and to love your neighbor as yourself. "There is no other commandment greater than these" (Mark 12:30-31). When Paul referred to the commandment to love our neighbor, he concluded by saying, "Love does no harm to a neighbor; therefore, love is the fulfillment of the law" (Romans 13:10). And when Jesus gave His disciples "a new commandment," it was that they should love one another as He loved them (John 13:34-35).

So it seems to us that our highest purpose—the one that encompasses and encourages all of the others—is the purpose of love. That is our supreme mission. And how are we to accomplish that mission? Are we supposed to be innovative? Should we strike out on our own initiative? Or do we have instructions to guide us in fulfilling our purpose? Have we been given a context in which love will be learned, taught, and lived according to God's design?

The New Testament speaks of the church as the context where biblical love should be given and experienced in its highest form. And most biblical references to the church are to the *local* church. When the New Testament writers speak of love, they use language that brings to mind unity among members and reliance upon one another. Nowhere do we find language that would encourage or affirm individuality.

For example, in Paul's letter to the church at Ephesus he spoke of Christ the Head of the church, "from whom the whole body, joined and knit together by what every joint supplies, according to the effective working by which every part does its share, causes growth of the body for the edifying of itself in love" (Ephesians 4:16).

Paul also pleaded with the Philippian Christians, saying, "... fulfill my joy by being likeminded, having the same love, being of one accord, of one mind" (Philippians 2:2). After instructing the Colossians to "put on tender mercies, kindness, humility, meekness, longsuffering ... forgiving one another ...," he said in conclusion, "But above all these things put on love which is the bond of perfection" (Colossians 3:12-14).

So the love of the New Testament is a *"likeminded"* love, a love that knits Christians together in fellowship and purpose, a love that bonds us together like the strongest glue. And all of this understanding is further affirmed by the New Testament metaphors used to describe the church—the metaphor of a building with individual

Christians being building stones, and that of a body with every Christian being an integral and functioning body part.

When we relate Paul's description of the church as "God's building" (1 Corinthians 3:9) to Peter's description of individual Christians as "living stones" who are "being built up a spiritual house" (1 Peter 2:5), we can easily see the need for a strong glue (or cement if you prefer) to hold this building together. Love, as Paul says, is that perfect bond.

When Paul describes the church as a body in 1 Corinthians chapter 12, he consistently refers to the individual Christians as members of that body (vv. 12, 14, 18, 19, 20, 23, 25, 26, 27). Never does Paul, or any other biblical author describe a Christian as one who functions or exists in isolation from the whole. Paul closes 1 Corinthians chapter 12 by mentioning spiritual gifts given to individuals as the Holy Spirit wills. But then, in his very last sentence he writes, "And yet I show you a more excellent way" (v. 31). The entire next chapter speaks of the perfection of love—a thing that exceeds even faith and hope in greatness (1 Corinthians 13:13). "Without love," Paul writes, "I am nothing" (13:2).

Where the New Testament presents love as "the bond of perfection," and where the consistent metaphors that picture the church describe things which must be bound together in order to exist (a body or a building), love must represent something much greater than personal goodness or the idea of being nice to others. Even if an individual who remains uncommitted to a local church is loving on a personal level, the Bible still informs us that such a person cannot be exercising true Christian love according to its design. This is because Christian love is described as the bond that holds the building or the body (the church) together.

*Why should you join a church*? Because by committing yourself in that way you will help to fulfill your purpose as a Christian. It seems pretty obvious from these biblical metaphors of building stones and body parts that the Christian life was not meant to be lived alone. You, as a Christian, were designed and created by God, not for a life of individuality and self-will, but to fill a niche in the spiritual building called the church. And as any police officer will tell you, individual bricks that are left lying around, unattached to a building, are more often used for vandalism and burglary, than for their intended purpose.

#### Reason #5: Care

There is a privilege of being cared for with the primacy and special benefit of a local covenant family of believers. When the pastors and elders extend their care beyond the membership, it does not mean that there is no primacy to members. Consider Acts 20:28 where Paul tells the elders how to care for their flock.

Pay careful attention to yourselves and to all the flock, in which the Holy Spirit has made you overseers, to care for the church of God, which He obtained with His own blood.

This verse does not say elders cannot visit unbelievers or those who are not yet members. But it does make clear that their first responsibility is to a particular flock.

Does it not make sense that this flock would have definition and limits? Who are elders and pastors responsible for? For whom will they give an account to God?

#### Reason #6: Expose false gospels.

As the members of a church support and submit to its teaching, they collectively say, "This is the truth! World, pay attention!" and their unity in doing so works to expose corruptions and imitations of the true gospel.

#### Reason #7: Edify the church.

When we join a local church we let the pastors and other members of that church know that we intend to attend regularly, give faithfully, pray for the church, and serve the church as we have opportunity. We allow fellow believers to have greater expectations of us in these areas, and we hold them responsible in these ways as well. So join a church in order to build it up (Eph. 4:11-16). You can do far more to build up the church as a committed member than as a detached, autonomous attender. And it will do good to your own soul as well.

#### Reason #8: Evangelize the world.

We can preach the gospel to our community and the world much better together than we can apart. Not only that, but as we covenant with other Christians to love, encourage and admonish one another, we display a living, breathing image of the gospel to the world.

#### Reason #9: Glorify God.

Jesus told his disciples, "A new command I give you: love one another. As I have loved you, so you must love one another. By this all men will know that you are my disciples, if you love one another" (John 13:34-35). We testify to the world about what God is like by how we love one another—and a committed, persevering, accountable love is a far greater picture of God's love than a picky-and-choosy, I'll-only-be-involved-with-the-people-I-want kind of "love." By committing to one another as members of the same church we display the glory of God's love—a committed, persevering, transforming love—as we image it in our lives together, and so bring him glory.

### Reason #10: A Cultural Reason - It is an Antidote to our Society.

We live in an age where very few want to be committed to anything...a job...a marriage...our country. This attitude has even produced a generation of "church shoppers and hoppers." Membership swims against the current of America's "consumer religion" and encourages people to become contributors. It is an

unselfish decision that demonstrates our love for others. Commitment always builds character.

#### Reason #11: A Practical Reason - It Defines Who Can Be Counted On

Every team must have a roster. Every school must have an enrollment. Every business has a payroll. Every army has an enlistment. Even our country takes a census and requires voter registration. Membership identifies our family.

#### Reason #12: A Personal Reason - It Produces Spiritual Growth

The New Testament places a major emphasis on the need for Christians to be accountable to each other for spiritual growth. You are more likely to be unaccountable when you're not committed to any specific church family. Living outside of accountability is a dangerous place to be.

#### Conclusion

With that in mind, consider the words of Charles Spurgeon regarding the obligation of every Christian to unite with a church in membership:

"I know there are some who say, 'Well, I have given myself to the Lord, but I do not intend to give myself to any church."

"Now, why not?"

"Because I can be a Christian without it."

"Are you quite clear about that? You can be as good a Christian by disobedience to your Lord's command as by being obedient? There is a brick. What is it made for? To help build a house. It is of no use for that brick to tell you that it is just as good a brick while it is kicking about on the ground as it would be in the house. It is a good-for-nothing brick. So you rolling-stone Christians, I do not believe that you are answering your purpose. You are living contrary to the life which Christ would have you live, and you are much to blame for the injury you do."

If you desire to be used by Christ in the building of His body the church, then carefully and prayerfully find a local body of believers with whom to unite in membership. There, in the committed relationship of a local church, you can be protected from the deceitfulness of sin. There you can be fully obedient to the Law of Christ, enabling and encouraging others to be obedient as well. And there you can *"work out your own salvation"* in the manner described in the pages of God's Word.

## Process for Becoming a Member

#### **Qualifications for Membership**

Those who give testimony and evidence of their faith in Christ as their Savior and Lord, who have been baptized, who affirm their commitment to follow the Word of God in all matters of faith and practice, and who voluntarily submit themselves to the authority of Village Bible Church are eligible to apply for membership.

#### **Membership Commitments**

The commitment is birthed out of our love for the church body and its individual members whom we hope will experience the fullness of joy which is found in the presence of the Lord. The primary purpose of this commitment is to serve as a teaching document with five functions:

- To remind us of our biblical obligations and expectations as part of a community of believers.
- To establish teaching and doctrinal parameters for the church body.
- To serve as a tool for reflection and growth toward holiness encouraging us to live in humble reliance upon the Holy Spirit as we seek to honor and submit to God.
- To create an environment that draws others toward maturity in Christ and involvement in His Kingdom.

(The entire commitment document can be found at the welcome center or online at: www.villagebible.org/commitment)

#### **Process for Membership**

One who desires to become a member of Village Bible Church and meets the qualifications set forth above is invited to take the following steps:

- 1. Complete the introductory membership class.
- 2. Submit an application form to the elders.
- 3. Read and commit by signature to live in accordance with the *Membership Commitments* of this church.
- 4. We strongly recommend that you complete the PLACE spiritual gifts assessment prior to your membership interview.

5. Before a team of at least one elder and another member of the church, declare a personal commitment of faith in Jesus Christ as Savior and Lord, display evidence of a maturing, active, love relationship with Jesus, and express a clear understanding of the responsibilities of membership.

#### Maintenance of Membership

Ongoing membership status will be maintained through:

- 1. Annual signature reaffirmation of the Membership Commitments
- 2. Compliance with the *Membership Commitments*
- 3. Regular church involvement

## Purpose in Our Yearly Membership Affirmation

At the start of every year, members are asked to affirm their commitment to another year of service and commitment to our church family. Remembering what scripture has called us to as brothers and sisters in Christ and in doing again affirming we are in this together – thus re-membering!

This is an ongoing reminder of the ways God instructs us to live as a community of believers and follows the examples of reminders we see throughout scripture.



God built many reminders into the life of Israel – think of all of the Old Testament festivals that were meant to remind the people of God's goodness and to serve as a continual call to faithfulness to the one true God. In the New Testament it is common to find reminders as well – especially in the letters. For example, Paul tells Titus to remind the people of Crete in chapter 3 of what it means to live a Godly life. In a similar way, we come together as committed members of God's local church to

Prone to wander, Lord, I feel it, Prone to leave the God I love; Here's my heart, O take and seal it, Seal it for Thy courts above... affirm these commitments. Because our human nature is prone to wander it is always good to be reminded of the things God calls us to.

Our hope is that before you sign your commitments each year that you would take time to read through them again.

That you would look up the scripture references that are footnoted. That you would prayerfully consider where God would want to grow your obedience to His commands and your own commitment to your fellow brothers and sisters in Christ. And then that you would affirm you commitment for another year.

And the king stood in his place and made a covenant before the LORD, to walk after the LORD and to keep his commandments and his testimonies and his statutes, with all his heart and all his soul, to perform the words of the covenant that were written in this book. Then he made all who were present in Jerusalem and in Benjamin join in it. And the inhabitants of Jerusalem did according to the covenant of God, the God of their fathers.

2 Chronicles 34:31-32